IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S223825

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF

CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

DAVID J. VALENCIA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Court Of Appeal, Fifth District

No. F067946

Superior Court of

California,

Tuolumne County No. CRF30714

SUPREME COURT

JUL 1 7 2015

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

STEPHANIE L. GUNTHER

(State Bar No. 233790) 841 Mohawk Street, Suite # 260 Bakersfield, CA 93309 Telephone: (661) 428-3720

Fax: (661) 829-5077

stephanielgunther@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant, David Valencia

ISSUES

- 1. Does the plain meaning of Penal Code¹ section 1170.18, subdivision (c), which states: "as used throughout this code, "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" means an unreasonable risk that the petitioner will commit a new felony within the meaning of clause (iv), of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667" apply to resentencing under section 1170.126?
- 2. Alternatively, does it "frustrate, rather than promote" the "purpose and intent of the electorate in enacting ... [Propositions 36 of 2012 and 47 of 2014]" to arrive at the plain reading interpretation of section 1170.18, subdivision (c) as added in 2014 by Proposition 47?"
- 3. Does the definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" (§ 1170.18, subd. (c)) merely clarify the resentencing provisions under the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012 (§ 1170.126), so as not to invoke the presumption against retroactivity?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 5, 2009, felony Information, CRF30714, was filed alleging corporal injury upon a spouse or cohabitant in violation of section 273.5, subdivision (a). (CT 14.) Section 273.5 is not a serious or violent offense pursuant to section 667.5 or subdivision

^{1.} Unless otherwise specified, all further provisions are to the Penal Code.

^{2.} The Opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal was attached to appellant's petition for review.

- (c) of Section 1192.7.³ It was further alleged that appellant had been convicted of the following prior "Strike" convictions as described in sections 667.5 and subdivision (c) of 1192.7:
 - 1. In 1996, criminal threats under section 422; and
 - 2. In 1995, kidnapping under section 207.

(CT 14.)

Sections 422 and 207 are not described in clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of section 667⁴ or clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) of section 1170.12.

On December 2, 2009, after appellant was found guilty of section 273.5, he admitted the "Strike" priors and was sentenced to 25 years to life. (CT 38-39, 84-85, 88.)

On April 15, 2013, appellant filed a petition to recall his sentence pursuant to section 1170.126 of Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012. (CT 127-135.) On August 9, 2013, the trial court denied the resentencing petition. (2 RT 502.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of appellant's petition for resentencing. His petition for rehearing in the Fifth District Court of Appeal was denied on January 8, 2015. On February 18, 2015, this Court granted appellant's petition for review.

^{3.} Offenses pursuant to section 667.5 or subdivision (c) of Section 1192.7 are hereafter referred to as "Strikes"

^{4.} Offenses described in clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667 are hereafter referred to as "Super Strikes."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In appellant's petition for resentencing pursuant to section 1170.126, appellant established that he was eligible because his sentence was for an offense "not defined as serious and/or violent felonies by subdivision (c) of Section 667.5 or subdivision (c) of Section 1192.7" and he had no previous convictions for offenses "appearing in clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667 or clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) of Section 1170.12." (§ 1170.126, subds. (e)(2) and (3).) At the resentencing hearing on August 9, 2013, the trial court did not state that it believed that appellant was likely to commit an offense described in clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of section 667.

On December 16, 2014, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that the trial courts discretion to grant or deny a resentencing petition under section 1170.126 is reviewed under the deferential abuse of discretion standard and that the trial court in this case did not abuse its discretion. (Opinion, p. 11.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DEFINITION OF UNREASONABLE RISK OF DANGER TO PUBLIC SAFETY UNDER SECTION 1170.18, SUBDIVISION (C) APPLIES TO RESENTENCING PETITIONS UNDER SECTION 1170.126

A. Overall Summary of the Legislative History of Propositions 36 and 47

There is significant evidence in the Proposition 36 and 47 ballot materials that strongly supports the plain reading interpretation of section 1170.18, subdivision (c).

Additionally, the official Proposition 47 ballot materials are silent with respect to the intent to mean something other than what is plainly stated in 1170.18, subdivision (c). Nowhere does the official Proposition 47 ballot material state that the voters intended to exclude the previously enacted section 1170.126, subdivision (c) petitions from the terms "[a]s used throughout this Code." In a nutshell, both sets of ballot material reveal a strong compatibility of purpose and intent with one another. In particular, they both share the singular goal of assuring life sentences for dangerous criminals, for the protection of the public, and the resentencing of low risk inmates convicted of "nonviolent, nonserious" crimes. Under both propositions, these combined public policies were expected to assure essential protections for the public while triggering substantial savings in tax dollars.

The legislative history of Proposition 36 reveals that it was offered to clarify the intent of the original Three Strikes law to focus prison spending upon dangerous criminals for the protection of the public. This intent was primarily accomplished, through amendments to section 667 which clarified what constituted a "serious and/or violent" felony for sentencing purposes, and the adoption of a new resentencing procedure under section 1170.126. In pertinent part, section 1170.126 allows persons who had *not been convicted* of "violent/and or violent felonies" as defined in section 667 to petition for shorter, determinate sentences, and prohibits petitioners who pose an "unreasonable risk of danger to the public safety" from receiving reduced sentences.

As detailed below, the Proposition 36 ballot materials reveal that the intent of the risk assessment under section 1170.126 was to exclude "dangerous criminals like rapists,

murderers, and child molesters" and to only allow the resentencing of persons convicted of "nonserious, nonviolent crimes." Also, as detailed below, the Proposition 47 ballot materials reveal this intent in Proposition 36 was affirmed and clarified in Proposition 47 because Proposition 47 essentially restated the existing law's focus in that subject area. This was accomplished, in part, via the amendment of section 1170.18, subdivision (c) which stated that "... 'unreasonable risk of danger to public safety' means an unreasonable risk that the petitioner will commit a new violent felony within the meaning of clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667."

By prefacing that clarifying definition with the terms "[a]s used throughout this Code," Proposition 47 was merely recognizing that Proposition 36 had already spoken with the same intent in section 1170.126. The intent was not to adopt a new risk assessment tool, but rather, it was to restate and clarify the obvious intent which had previously been adopted by Proposition 36.

B. The Plain Meaning of As Used Throughout This Code Unambiguously Means That the Definition of Dangerousness in Section 1170.18, Subdivision (c) Applies to Petitions for Resentencing under Section 1170.126

The Fifth District Court of Appeal conceded that the plain meaning of the statue was clear and unambiguous. "On its face, "[a]s used throughout this Code," as employed in section 1170.18, subdivision (c), clearly and unambiguously refers to the Penal Code, not merely section 1170.18 or the other provisions contained in Proposition 47." (Opinion p. 27.) Nevertheless, the appellate court concluded that the "literal meaning" of section 1170.18 subdivision (c)" does not *comport* with the purpose of the Act, and

^{5.} See Petition for Review, Appendix A, hereafter referred to as "Opinion."

applying it to resentencing proceedings under the Act would frustrate, rather than promote, that purpose and the intent of the electorate in enacting both initiative measures." (Opinion p. 29, emphasis added.)

"[T]he starting point for interpreting a statute is the language of the statute itself. Absent a clearly expressed legislative intention to the contrary, that language must ordinarily be regarded as conclusive." (Consumer Product Safety Commission v. GTE Sylvania, Inc. (1980) 447 U.S. 102, 108 [100 S. Ct. 2051, 2056, 64 L.Ed.2d 766].) "In interpreting a voter initiative ... we apply the same principles that govern statutory construction. [Citation.] Thus, 'we turn first to the language of the statute, giving the words their ordinary meaning.' [Citation.]" (People v. Briceno (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451, 459.) When "'statutory language is ... clear and unambiguous there is no need for construction, and courts should not indulge in it.'" (Rojo v. Kliger (1990) 52 Cal.3d 65, 73, quoting Solberg v. Superior Court (1977) 19 Cal.3d 182, 198; see also Delaney v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 785, 802 and People v. Hendrix (1997) 16 Cal.4th 508, 512.)

Under the plain meaning rule of statutory construction, the first step is to read the words using their usual and ordinary meaning. This done under the presumption that the legislation meant what it said and said what it meant. "Because statutory language generally provides the most reliable indicator of that intent (*Hsu v. Abbara* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 863, 871), we turn to the words themselves, giving them their "usual and ordinary meanings" and construing them in context. (*People v. Loeun* (1997) 17 Cal.4th 1, 9.). "
'If there is no ambiguity in the language of the statute, "... the Legislature is presumed to

have meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute governs." '" (*Ibid.*)" (*People v. Lawrence* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 219, 230-31.)

Phrases that set the parameters of the applicability of definitions are commonly used tools in drafting legislation. Either under the plain meaning rule, or by imputing a special meaning as a term of art⁶, the result is the same. As used throughout this code means what is says and says what it means: petitions under section 1170.126 are to be measured by the standard provided in section 1170.18, subdivision (c).

The phrase as used in this section, or as used in this paragraph can be found in section 261. ("[A]s used in this section, "duress" means . . .;" "[a]s used in this section, "menace" means . . .;" "[a]s used in this paragraph, "public official" means . . .;" and "[a]s used in this paragraph, "threatening to retaliate," means . . ." § 261, subds. (6),(7)(b) & (c).) The phrase as used in this section is also found in the California Code of Civil Procedure section 425.115. As used in this title is found in section 14215. As used in this article is found in Government Code section 54236. As used in this chapter is found in California Civil Code section 731.03. As used (fill in the blank) is a basic statutory means of identifying the reach of a statute. Whether the phrase as used throughout this code is a term of art or simply the most plain and direct way of defining the reach of the definition, the intent is clear. The definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" is to be used where ever else it is found in the Penal Code. Accordingly, the plain

^{6.} If as used (fill in the blank) is a term of art, "a cardinal rule of statutory construction" is that when the Legislature employs a "term of art, "it presumably knows and adopts the cluster of ideas that were attached to each borrowed word in a body of learning from which it was taken." " (F.A.A. v. Cooper (2012) 132 S.CT. 1441, 1449 [182 L. Ed. 2d 497, 80 USLW 4289].)

meaning of section 1170.18, subdivision (c) unequivocally reveals that the people of the State of California intended that the definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" as provided in section 1170.18 would apply to resentencing petitions under section 1170.126.

A plain reading of the terms as used throughout this Code in section 1170.18, subdivision (c) requires one to apply the stated definition anywhere it appears in the Penal Code. In particular, the definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" must be understood as applying to the only two Penal Code sections utilizing those terms: the resentencing proceedings specified under both section 1170.18, subdivision (b), as added by Proposition 47 of 2014; and section 1170.126, subdivision (f), as added by Proposition 36 in 2012.

As used throughout this Code, "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" means an unreasonable risk that *the petitioner* will commit a new violent felony within the meaning of clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667.

(§ 1170.18, subd. (c))

Thus, "the petitioner" addressed in 1170.18, subdivision (c) is a person who seeks resentencing under either section 1170.18 (Proposition 47) or section 1170.126 (Proposition (36) and who is not at risk of committing a new "violent felony" as specified.

C. The Official Ballot Material and Other Extrinsic Aids Strengthen and Fortify the Plain Meaning Interpretation that the Phrase As Used Throughout This Code Means that the Definition of Dangerousness in Section 1170.18, Subdivision (c) Applies to Section 1170.126 Petitions

If "the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, however, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part. [citation] We also "'refer to other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet.' [citations.]" (People v. Osuna (2014) 225 Cal. App. 4th 1020, 1034, emphasis added.) Although the language is susceptible of only one reasonable interpretation, which is the plain meaning, as will be shown the official ballot material bolsters and supports that plain meaning. "Extrinsic aids" to statutory construction are sources outside of the statutory text itself. (2A Singer, Statutes and Statutory Construction, (6th ed. 2000) § 48:01, p. 407.)" (MacIsaac v. Waste Management Collection and Recycling, Inc. (2005) 134 Cal. App. 4th 1076, fn. 5.)

As detailed below, significant evidence of the legislative intent and purpose provided in the Proposition 36 and 47 ballot materials strongly supports the plain reading interpretation of Penal Code Section 1170.18, subdivision (c). Additionally, the Proposition 47 ballot materials are silent with respect to intend something other than what is plainly stated in 1170.18, subdivision (c), which would result in excluding the

previously enacted section 1170.126 petitions from the terms "[a]s used throughout this Code."

SEC. 2. Findings and Declarations.

The people of the State of California find and declare as follows:

The people enact the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act to ensure that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses, to maximize alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime, and to invest the savings generated from this act into prevention and support programs in K-12 schools, victim services, and mental health and drug treatment. This act ensures that sentences for people convicted of dangerous crimes like rape, murder, and child molestation are not changed.

(Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014), text of proposed law, § 2, p. 70, emphasis added.)

Section 2 of Proposition 47 sets forth the legislative "Findings and Declarations" which are applicable to the entire act including, but not limited to, section 1170.18, subdivision (c) which was added by Proposition 47. Section 2, is critical because, not only is it part and parcel of the 2014 enacted law, but it supplies the essential intent for all of section 1170.18, especially the terms at issue in subdivision (c). That intent cannot be ignored. Section 2 informed the electorate that Proposition 47 – including section 1170.18, subdivision (c) – was aimed at focusing the State's "prison spending" upon "violent and serious offenses," maximizing non-prison "alternatives" for "nonserious, nonviolent crimes" and that the resulting savings would be invested in the specified programs. It also assured the voters that the sentencing laws affecting all "people convicted" of the cited "dangerous crimes" "are not changed."

Notably, the stated goals are expressed in *broad* terms revealing the intent to apply to *all* convictions for "violent and serious offenses" and "nonserious, nonviolent" offenses – including, but not limited to, all prior convictions that are relevant for Proposition 36 resentencing petitions. In like manner, Section 2 *broadly* assures that essentially *all* "people convicted" of the cited "dangerous crimes" will not benefit from any of the changes adopted in Proposition 47. This expansive and essential protection of the public necessarily includes any such persons petitioning for resentencing under Proposition 36 who are covered under a plain reading of section 1170.18, subdivision (c). This broad intent is further confirmed and amplified in section 3:

SEC. 3. Purpose and Intent.

In enacting this act, it is the purpose and intent of the people of the State of California to: (1) Ensure that people convicted of murder, rape, and child molestation will not benefit from this act.

(Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014), text of proposed law, § 3, p. 70, emphasis added.)

This expansive and essential protection of the public necessarily includes any such persons petitioning for resentencing under Proposition 36 who are covered under a plain reading of 1170.18, subdivision (c). It provides the same broad assurances that *all* persons convicted of the cited dangerous crimes will not benefit from any of the changes adopted in Proposition 47. Overall, section 3 of the act, coupled with section 2, more than adequately supports a plain reading interpretation of section 1170.18, subdivision (c) for the reasons provided above. The obvious application to Proposition 36 resentencing petitions conforms to a plain reading.

SEC. 3. Purpose and Intent.

In enacting this act, it is the purpose and intent of the people of the State of California to: ... (3) Require misdemeanors instead of felonies for nonserious, nonviolent crimes like petty theft and drug possession, unless the defendant has prior convictions for specified violent or serious crimes.

(Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014), text of proposed law, § 3, p. 70, emphasis added.)

Subdivision (3) elaborates upon Proposition 47's intended impact on "nonserious, nonviolent crimes like petty theft and drug possession." Notably, it too is drafted in a broad manner. Essentially, the voters were advised that *all* such crimes would be treated as misdemeanors instead of felonies, unless the defendant "has prior convictions for specified violent or serious crimes." This necessarily includes "nonserious, nonviolent crimes" that are the subject of a Proposition 36 resentencing petition, in conformity with a plain reading interpretation of section 1170.18, subdivision (c).

SEC. 3. Purpose and Intent.

In enacting this act, it is the purpose and intent of the people of the State of California to: ...(5) Require a thorough review of criminal history and risk assessment of any individuals before resentencing to ensure that they do not pose a risk to public safety.

(Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014), text of proposed law, § 3, p. 70, emphasis added.)

Subdivision (5) describes, at minimum, the requirement in section 1170.18, subdivision (c) for a "thorough review of criminal history and risk assessment of any individuals before resentencing to ensure that they do not pose a risk to public safety." On its face, subdivision (5) does not solely address "individuals" who petition for

Rather, it unambiguously subjects the Proposition 47 section 1170.18, subdivision (c) requirement for a "thorough review of criminal history and risk assessment to *any* individuals before resentencing" (emphasis added). As such, it must be understood as applying to "any individuals" who are engaged in the only two resentencing petition processes that are available: those set forth in sections 1170.18 and 1170.126.

SEC. 3. Purpose and Intent.

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