## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V

DAVID J. VALENCIA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S223825 SUPREME COURT

OCT 3 0 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deput

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F067946
Tuolumne County Superior Court, Case No. CRF30714
The Honorable Eleanor Provost, Judge

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The California electorate did not intend Proposition 47's new definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in section 1170.18, subdivision (c), to apply to section 1170.126 dangerousness determinations made under Proposition 36. First, the statutory language of section 1170.18 reflects an intent not to apply Proposition 47's definition to Proposition 36 proceedings. By its own terms, Section 1170.18, subdivision (c), applies only to petitioners who file petitions under section 1170.18, subdivision (a), despite the language that the definition is to apply "throughout this Code." Section 1170.18, subdivision (n), which declares an intent not to "diminish or abrogate the finality of judgments in any case not falling within the purview of this act," also indicates that Proposition 47 was intended only to affect judgments stemming from convictions for the enumerated drug and property crimes at the heart of Proposition 47.

Second, the initiatives' different scopes indicate that Proposition 47 was not intended to amend Proposition 36. Under the statutory scheme of Proposition 36, life sentences remain mandatory or discretionary for a wide

range of offenses and third strike offenders, not just the most egregious cases. In contrast, Proposition 47 provides for resentencing in the much less serious context of certain drug- and theft-related offenses that were previously felonies or "wobblers" but are now misdemeanors. Because the would-be misdemeanants who stand to benefit from Proposition 47, as a class, are less dangerous than recidivist felons with prior strike offenses, it is logical to impose a more restrictive dangerousness standard for them (§ 1170.18, subd. (c)) than the standard applied for recidivist felons under Proposition 36. Moreover, the two initiatives were passed for different purposes such that a literal construction of section 1170.18, subdivision (c), would not comport with the purposes of the initiatives, as stated in the acts themselves or in the relevant ballot materials.

Third, applying the definition of section 1170.18, subdivision (c), to Proposition 36 petitions would lead to unreasonable and absurd results. Proposition 47 was passed just as the two-year deadline to file section 1170.126 petitions under Proposition 36 was expiring. The California voters cannot be understood to have silently "decided so important and controversial a public policy matter and created a significant departure from the existing law" (*In re Christian S.* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 768, 782) by changing the rules for section 1170.126 petitions at the very last moment without any express declaration or notice of such intent. The radical reduction of court discretion in Proposition 36 proceedings—that would result without notice that the electorate intended to reduce the discretion it so recently and abundantly granted to the courts to determine a petitioner's dangerousness—is also unreasonable.

Even assuming the definition applies prospectively to Proposition 36 proceedings, it does not apply retroactively to proceedings in which the trial court determined, prior to the effective date of Proposition 47, that resentencing would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety

pursuant to section 1170.126. There is no clear and unambiguous intent on the part of the California electorate for section 1170.18, subdivision (c), if it applies at all to section 1170.126, to apply retroactively to section 1170.126 proceedings. Without any declaration or indication of voter intent to apply the new definition retroactively to Proposition 36 proceedings, the California voters cannot be understood to have intentionally undone the section 1170.126 determinations they approved and intentionally revived the final judgments they intended to preserve when they passed Proposition 36 just two years earlier. Therefore, the section 3 presumption of prospective application applies.

In re Estrada (1965) 63 Cal.2d, 740 (Estrada) does not apply because applying the more restrictive definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in section 1170.18, subdivision (c), to section 1170.126 proceedings does not constitute a reduction in punishment. Moreover, the amended definition is generally applicable to a class of offenders and does not apply to a particular criminal offense. Thus, the section 3 presumption of prospective application is not rebutted.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DEFINITION OF "UNREASONABLE RISK OF DANGER TO PUBLIC SAFETY" IN SECTION 1170.18, SUBDIVISION (C), DOES NOT APPLY TO SECTION 1170.126 DETERMINATIONS

Appellant contends that the new definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in Proposition 47 amends the meaning of the phrase as used in dangerousness determinations under Proposition 36 and must be applied retroactively to those determinations in cases in which the judgment is not final. (AOB 3-48.) For the reasons set forth below, respondent submits that the new, more restrictive, definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety," as provided in section

1170.18, subdivision (c), does not apply at all to section 1170.126 resentencing proceedings.

#### A. Proposition 36 Provides for Resentencing of Certain Third Strike Offenders Subject to Broad Judicial Discretion

On November 6, 2012, California voters passed Proposition 36, which enacted the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012, effective November 7, 2012 (see Cal. Const., art II, § 10, subd. (a)). Proposition 36 amended sections 1170.12 and 667 to lessen the sentence that may be imposed on many non-violent and non-serious felonies committed after two prior "strikes." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) text of Prop. 36, §§ 2, 4, pp. 105-109.)

Most relevant here, Proposition 36 created a recall procedure to provide retroactive relief for prisoners currently serving an indeterminate life sentence on a non-serious and non-violent felony conviction. (§ 1170.126, subd. (a).) Under this new statute, a prisoner may file a "petition for a recall of sentence" within two years of the date of Proposition 36's effective date or at a later date on a showing of good cause. (§ 1170.126, subd. (b).) A petitioner is eligible for resentencing if: (1) he or she is currently serving an indeterminate term of life imprisonment for a current non-serious and non-violent felony conviction (§§ 667.5, subd. (c), 1192.7, subd. (c)); (2) his or her current sentence was not imposed for certain disqualifying offenses (§§ 667, subds. (e)(2)(C)(i)-(iii), 1170.12, subds. (c)(2)(C)(i)-(iii)); and (3) he or she has no prior convictions for offenses listed in sections 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv), and 1170.12, subdivision (c)(2)(C)(iv). (§ 1170.126, subd. (e).) If a trial court determines that the petitioner satisfies these criteria, the prisoner shall be resentenced as a second striker, "unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the petitioner would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (§ 1170.126, subd. (f).) The term "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" is not expressly defined in the statute, but the statute does provide guidelines for the trial court to consider in making its determination. In exercising its discretion, the trial court may consider the petitioner's criminal history, the circumstances of the current offense, his or her disciplinary record and record of rehabilitation while incarcerated, and any other evidence the court, in its discretion, determines to be relevant. (§ 1170.126, subd. (g).)

According to the "Findings and Declarations" of section 1 of Proposition 36, the initiative was enacted to restore the original intent of the Three Strikes Law by imposing life sentences for dangerous criminals like rapists, murderers, and child molesters and to:

- (1) Require that murderers, rapists, and child molesters serve their full sentences—they will receive life sentences, even if they are convicted of a new minor third strike crime.
- (2) Restore the Three Strikes law to the public's original understanding by requiring life sentences only when a defendant's current conviction is for a violent or serious crime.
- (3) Maintain that repeat offenders convicted of non-violent, non-serious crimes like shoplifting and simple drug possession will receive twice the normal sentence instead of a life sentence.
- (4) Save hundreds of millions of taxpayer dollars every year for at least 10 years. The state will no longer pay for housing or long-term health care for elderly, low-risk, non-violent inmates serving life sentences for minor crimes.
- (5) Prevent the early release of dangerous criminals who are currently being released early because jails and prisons are overcrowded with low-risk, non-violent inmates serving life sentences for petty crimes.

(Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) text of Prop. 36, p. 105.)
Uncodified section 7 of Proposition 36 also provided: "This act is an exercise of the public power of the people of the State of California for the

protection of the health, safety, and welfare of the people of the State of California, and shall be liberally construed to effectuate those purposes." (Id. at p. 110.) "Enhancing public safety was a key purpose of [Proposition 36]." (People v. Yearwood (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 161, 175.)

# B. Proposition 47 Provides for Resentencing of Certain Felons-Turned-Misdemeanants Subject to Circumscribed Judicial Discretion

Just two years after the passage of Proposition 36, on November 4, 2014, California voters passed Proposition 47, which enacted the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act of 2014, effective November 5, 2014 (see Cal. Const., art II, § 10, subd. (a)). Proposition 47 reduced certain drugand theft-related felonies or "wobblers" to misdemeanors, unless they were committed by defendants with one or more prior convictions for certain violent offenses (§ 667, subd. (e)(2)(C)(iv)) or for offenses requiring sex offender registration (§ 290, subd. (c)). Proposition 47 also created a new resentencing provision, section 1170.18, by which "[a] person currently serving a sentence" for such a conviction may petition the trial court for a recall of sentence and request a reduced classification and sentence. (§ 1170.18, subd. (a).) An eligible person (see § 1170.18, subd. (i)) satisfying the criteria in subdivision (a) shall be resentenced unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the person would pose an "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (§ 1170.18, subd. (b).) The language of section 1170.18, subdivision (b), is similar to the language appearing in section 1170.126, subdivisions (f) and (g).

Section 1170.18, subdivision (c), was added to provide:

As used throughout this Code, "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" means an unreasonable risk that the petitioner will commit a new violent felony within the meaning of clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667.

The resentencing statute also created an application process for similar persons who have already completed their sentences to have the relevant conviction or convictions designated as misdemeanors. (§ 1170.18, subd. (f).) Despite the use of language similar to Proposition 36, any potential relief offered under Proposition 47 is independent and separate from any potential relief offered under Proposition 36.

According to the "Findings and Declarations" of section 2 of Proposition 47, the initiative was enacted "to ensure that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses, to maximize alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime, and to invest the savings generated from this act into prevention and support programs in K-12 schools, victim services, and mental health and drug treatment. This act ensures that sentences for people convicted of dangerous crimes like rape, murder, and child molestation are not changed." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of Prop. 47, p. 70.) The electorate further stated the purpose and intent of Proposition 47 in uncodified section 3:

- (1) Ensure that people convicted of murder, rape, and child molestation will not benefit from this act.
- (2) Create the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Fund, with 25 percent of the funds to be provided to the State Department of Education for crime prevention and support programs in K-12 schools, 10 percent of the funds for trauma recovery services for crime victims, and 65 percent of the funds for mental health and substance abuse treatment programs to reduce recidivism of people in the justice system.
- (3) Require misdemeanors instead of felonies for nonserious, nonviolent crimes like petty theft and drug possession, unless the defendant has prior convictions for specified violent or serious crimes.
- (4) Authorize consideration of resentencing for anyone who is currently serving a sentence for any of the offenses listed herein that are now misdemeanors.

- (5) Require a thorough review of criminal history and risk assessment of any individuals before resentencing to ensure that they do not pose a risk to public safety.
- (6) This measure will save significant state corrections dollars on an annual basis. Preliminary estimates range from \$150 million to \$250 million per year. This measure will increase investments in programs that reduce crime and improve public safety, such as prevention programs in K-12 schools, victim services, and mental health and drug treatment, which will reduce future expenditures for corrections.

(Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of Prop. 47, p. 70.)

#### C. The General Principles of Statutory Construction

The general principles of statutory construction apply to voter initiatives such as Proposition 47. (Robert L. v. Superior Court (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 900.) In construing Proposition 47, the court's primary task is to determine the voters' intent. (People v. Jones (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1142, 1146.) To determine the voters' intent, the court turns first to the words of the provision adopted by the voters, giving the language its ordinary and plain meaning. (Ibid.; Robert L., at p. 901.) The statutory language must be construed not in isolation but in the context of the statute as a whole and within the overall statutory scheme, keeping in mind the scope and purpose of the provision in light of the voters' intent. (Robert L., at p. 901; People v. Acosta (2002) 29 Cal.4th 105, 112.)

Statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible. (Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387; People v. Honig (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 289, 327-328.) However, literal construction does not prevail if it conflicts with the voters' intent apparent in the statute. (Lungren v. Deukmejian (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.) Where the language is ambiguous, the court will look to "other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments

contained in the official ballot pamphlet." (People v. Birkett (1999) 21
Cal.4th 226, 243; People v. Floyd (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 187-188 [ballot pamphlet information is a valuable aid in construing intent of voters].)
Consideration should be given to the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation where uncertainty exists, as well as the wider historical circumstances of the enactment. (Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com., at p. 1387.) Any ambiguities in an initiative statute are "not interpreted in the defendant's favor if such an interpretation would provide an absurd result, or a result inconsistent with apparent legislative intent." (People v. Cruz (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782, internal citation and quotation omitted.) Ultimately, the court's duty is to interpret and apply the language of the initiative "so as to effectuate the electorate's intent." (Robert L., supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 901.)

D. The Definition of "Unreasonable Risk of Danger to Public Safety" in Section 1170.18, Subdivision (c), Does Not Apply to Section 1170.126 Determinations

The primary issue before this Court, and the issue that was decided by the Court of Appeal, is whether the definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" (§ 1170.18, subd. (c)) under Proposition 47 applies to resentencing under Proposition 36 (§ 1170.126). In light of the statutory language of section 1170.18 as a whole, the differences in scope and purpose between Propositions 36 and 47, and the official ballot materials for each initiative, the California voters did not intend for the new definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in section 1170.18, subdivision (c), to apply to Proposition 36 proceedings.

1. Statutory language and the stated scopes and purposes of Propositions 47 and 36 demonstrate that the voters did not intend for section 1170.18, subdivision (c), to apply to Proposition 36 proceedings

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